IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 04-390

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

-vs-

ALBERTO RODRIGUEZ,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN

Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0230987 Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5850 Fax: 377-5655

BARBARA A. ZAPPI

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0782602 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs The 110 Tower - S.E. 6th Street Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 712-4832 Fax: 712-4761

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. Respondent, ALBERTO RODRIGUEZ, was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stand before this Court, except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the "State," and Respondent may also be referred to as "Defendant". The symbol "R" denotes the original record on appeal, and the symbol "T" denotes the transcript of the trial court proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by Amended Information in Case Number 01-8689 with resisting an officer without violence, fleeing or attempting to elude a law enforcement officer/high speed, unlawful display of authorized indicia of law enforcement authority, and reckless driving. The date of the offenses was March 16, 2001. (R:1-6). Defense counsel moved to dismiss the unlawful display of authorized indicia of law enforcement authority count, arguing the statute which made such illegal, section 843.085(1), was unconstitutional because it was so vague it could not be envisioned the black tee shirt Defendant was

wearing with POLICE written in blocked letters was included within the statute. (T:166-68). The trial court denied the motion on the basis it was untimely. (T:187).

With regard to the motion to suppress statements, Officer Johnson of the Miami-Dade Police Department testified he was on patrol in an unmarked police car when he heard a BOLO that a motorcycle was fleeing from an officer who was traveling southbound on 826, approaching 874. The person on the motorcycle was a white Latin male. (T:188-90). Officer Johnson was going southbound on 874 when the motorcycle came up from behind and passed his vehicle, and went over onto the shoulder to pass another vehicle. (T:191-93). At this point, Officer Johnson and his partner were doing about 90 m.p.h. and when Defendant passed the other vehicle, that vehicle swerved into their lane. When that happened, Officer Johnson and his partner swerved to avoid that driver and in doing so they lost control and struck the retaining wall. (T:193-94). The patrol vehicle then bounced off the retaining wall, went into the outside lane, and came to rest northbound in the southbound lane of 874. (T:194).

Later, Officer Johnson saw Defendant handcuffed and sitting on the embankment. When Officer Johnson told Defendant he looked familiar, Defendant said they worked out at the same gym.

(T:200). Officer Johnson asked Defendant why he didn't stop. Defendant said he didn't want to and that if his bike didn't blow up he probably would have outrun them. (T:201).

Detective Rodriguez testified he attempted to stop Defendant when he saw Defendant doing wheelies and cutting in and out of traffic, and going in excess of 100 miles per hour. (T:202). Detective Rodriguez pursued Defendant but lost him. The next time he saw Defendant, Defendant already was handcuffed and was being brought back to where he had ditched his motorcycle. (T:203). He and other officers who had responded to the scene were gathered in the area where the motorcycle was. They were talking among themselves, wondering if the motorcycle was stolen and if that was why Defendant was fleeing. (T:203-04).

Defendant spontaneously said the only reason they caught him was because he blew the engine on his motorcycle. Defendant also said he knew doing a wheelie was considered reckless driving. Defendant's last statement was he didn't pull over because he didn't think he would be pulled over because he was wearing a police shirt. (T:205). No questions were directed to Defendant; he just joined in the conversation with the officers. (T:206).

On cross, Detective Rodriguez said he never Mirandized Defendant because he never asked him any questions. (T:209).

Detective Rodriguez did not believe he asked Defendant where he got the shirt he was wearing, but that Defendant offered the shirt could be bought at a ninety-nine cent store. (T:213-14).

Detective Smith testified it was he who stopped Defendant. (T:216). Detective Smith was the passenger in his partner's vehicle and saw when Defendant took the exit ramp and then jump off his bike. The officers followed Defendant and were about thirty yards away from the motorcycle when they came to a complete stop. Detective Smith immediately exited the passenger side of the vehicle, yelled "police," and yelled for Defendant to stop. Detective Smith and his partner took Defendant into custody. (T:217).

The State rested. (T:220). After hearing argument, the trial court ruled on defense's motion to suppress as follows: The motion was granted as it related to Defendant saying the shirt he was wearing could be purchased at a ninety-nine cent store, but denied as to the other statements Defendant made. (T:228-31).

At trial, Detective Javier Rodriguez testified he was headed southbound on the Palmetto when he saw a motorcycle fly by the unmarked police vehicle he was in. (T:243). Detective Rodriguez was doing about 105 m.p.h. but could not catch up with

the motorcycle. The motorcycle eventually slowed down as the driver was doing wheelies as he was cutting in and out of traffic. (T:244, 246). Detective Rodriguez finally caught up with the motorcycle and saw the driver had on a black shirt with police written on the front and the back. (T;246). Detective Rodriguez was able to see the tag number. Because he did not know what the driver was going to do, rather than activate his emergency equipment, Detective Rodriguez called for assistance. (T:246).

Sometimes the driver would stop doing wheelies and drive in excess of 100 m.p.h. (T:247). Detective Rodriguez could not believe a police officer would drive like that. It was too reckless and it put a lot of people in danger. A lot of cars would swerve out of the way to avoid hitting the motorcycle or avoid being hit by the motorcycle. (T:248-49). Detective Rodriguez was shown and identified the shirt Defendant was wearing; the shirt was admitted into evidence. (T:247-48). As far as Detective Rodriguez knew, you had to be a law enforcement officer to be able to buy a shirt like that. (T:249).

When Detective Rodriguez was confident enough backup was present, he activated his lights and siren. (T:250). Defendant immediately looked back. Detective Rodriguez pointed for Defendant to go to the shoulder but Defendant continued to drive

southbound. (T:256). Defendant then tugged on his shirt, pointed to the back of his shirt, and mouthed the word "police". (T:256-57). Detective Rodriguez thought Defendant was trying to tell him he was a police officer but he didn't know for sure. (T:257). Because Defendant was driving like a "maniac," Detective Rodriguez decided he was going to stop Defendant and so he continued to press his siren. When Detective Rodriguez tried to pass Defendant on the right, Defendant again mouthed the word "police" and pulled at his shirt. (T:257).

Defendant finally slowed down and moved over to the right. With Detective Rodriguez directly behind him on the shoulder, Defendant looked back, waived, and took off going over 100 m.p.h. (T:258). Detective Rodriguez took off after Defendant and could see police lights ahead of him and behind him. (T:258-59). When Defendant passed the marked unit that was ahead of them, the marked unit got directly behind Defendant. Defendant suddenly made a quick turn to the right and got off the expressway. The marked unit wasn't able to turn off but a couple of them were able to turn off and they followed Defendant. Defendant ran the red light, continued across the intersection and got back on the expressway still headed southbound. (T:259-60).

Detective Rodriguez followed Defendant but wasn't able to

keep up and Defendant was pulling away from him. (T:260-61). As Defendant was driving he almost hit a police vehicle, causing it to turn and hit the median. (T:261). Detective Rodriguez continued to follow the motorcycle and saw other marked units also following the motorcycle. Eventually, Defendant exited and dropped the motorcycle. (T:262). Detectives Ruiz and Smith were the ones who physically arrested Defendant. (T:262-63). Detective Rodriguez came upon the scene about a minute after Defendant was arrested and was being brought back to where the motorcycle was. (T:263-64). Detective Rodriguez ran the VIN number on the motorcycle and learned it wasn't stolen. (T:264). Detective Rodriguez put the shirt Defendant was wearing into an evidence bag and sealed it. (T:268).

Defendant said the only reason he was captured was because he blew the engine on the motorcycle. He also said he thought because he had the police shirt on he was not going to be pulled over. (T:265). Defendant also said he knew that by doing a wheelie it was automatically reckless driving and he was going to jail for that and that is why he didn't stop. (T:265).

Detective Charlie Johnson testified he was riding with Detective John in an unmarked vehicle when Detective Rodriguez' request for backup came over the radio. From their position they knew the pursuit was coming up from behind them. (T:286-

87). When they saw the motorcycle coming up on them, they got in position to get in the pursuit. The motorcycle passed a little white car, scaring the driver who swerved into their lane, cutting them off. (T:288-89). When Detective John swerved to avoid hitting the white car they spun out, hit the inside retainer wall, then bounced off the outside retainer wall. They came to a rest in the middle of 874, pointing north in the southbound lanes. (T:289-90).

Detective Jarnel Ruiz testified he was in an unmarked unit with his partner Jason Smith when a BOLO came over the radio. Seconds after they heard the BOLO they saw the motorcycle. (T:291-93). Detective Ruiz activated his siren and lights and proceeded to follow the motorcycle. Defendant looked back at them then accelerated. (T:294-95). They continued to follow the motorcycle and when they got to Miller Drive the motorcycle exited. Defendant jumped off his bike and while Detective Ruiz was still putting his vehicle in park, Detective Smith exited and chased after Defendant. (T:297). Detective Ruiz then exited his vehicle and saw that Defendant was trying to get across the highway. Detective Ruiz drew his gun and yelled, "Stop, police," and ordered Defendant to the ground. Detective Smith grabbed Defendant and handcuffed him. (T:297).

Detective Jason Smith testified he saw Defendant drop his

bike on the side of the expressway. Defendant began to run, attempting to cross the expressway. Detective Smith exited the vehicle he was riding in and yelled "Stop, police". (T:299-300). Within seconds after they apprehended Defendant other cars arrived at the scene. (T:311).

Officer Regina Dean testified she was driving a marked vehicle and joined in the pursuit with four other vehicles.

(T:312). It was she who transported Defendant to headquarters. (T:314).

The State rested. (T:315). Defense moved for mistrial, arguing when Detective Rodriguez said most people pull over when they are asked to, unless they are committing or have committed a crime, it only inflamed the jury. (T:284, 316-17). The prosecutor explained the reason he asked Detective Rodriguez that question was to show that in Detective Rodriguez' experience people would pull over when he was in an unmarked vehicle. (T:318). The trial judge did not see a manifest necessity to declare a mistrial and denied the motion. (T:319). Defense moved for a judgment of acquittal. (T:323-28). The motion was denied as to all counts. (T:332, 334-38, 341).

A jury found Defendant guilty of resisting an officer without violence, guilty of fleeing or attempting to elude a law enforcement officer, guilty of unlawful display of authorized

indicia of law enforcement authority, and guilty of reckless driving. (T:442-43; R:29-32).

Respondent filed an appeal in the Third District Court of Appeal, 3dDCA Case No. 01-2332 challenging, *inter alia*, the constitutionality of section 843.085, Florida Statutes. The verbatim point on appeal was:

SECTION 843.085, FLORIDA STATUTES (1999) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT IS IMPERMISSIBLY CONTENT-BASED AND PROSCRIBES CONDUCT WHICH IS PROTECTED BY ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 4 AND 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Respondent's argument was because section 843.085 forbids the expression of certain protected speech it is content-based and therefore unconstitutional. Respondent also argued section 843.085 was overbroad.

Respondent's position was this issue was not preserved for review as while trial counsel stated the statute was vague and overbroad, counsel did not make the particular arguments that were being made on appeal. In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation.

See Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985).

Nevertheless, without abandoning its lack of preservation argument, Respondent addressed the merits of this issue.

On July 23, 2003, the Third District Court agreed Defendant's conviction and sentence for the unlawful display of authorized indicia of law enforcement authority pursuant to section 843.085(1) must be vacated because the statute was impermissibly content-based and overbroad. (Opinion p.10). The Third District believed section 843.085(1) was content-based in that it focused only on the content of the speech or expression and the direct impact it had on the viewer. (Opinion pp.11-12). The district court further found section 843.085(1) was overbroad because it banned the wearing of any indicia of law enforcement authority regardless of the intent of the non-official. (Opinion p.12).

The district court noted Defendant's conduct of pointing to his shirt and mouthing the word "police" to the officers clearly came within the proscription found in section 843.085(1), but he nevertheless had standing to interpose and maintain an overbreadth challenge to the statute. (Opinion p.13).

The court determined its opinion was buttressed by the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in <u>Virginia v. Black</u>, 538 U.S. 343, 123 S.Ct. 1536 (2003), which held because the Virginia statute made no distinction between cross burning done with the

intent to intimidate or threaten from a cross burning not done with such an intent, the provision was unconstitutional on its face. (Opinion p.13-14). The court stated that in the absence of an intent or scienter requirement, section 843.085(1) did mot make the distinction between the innocent wearing or display of law enforcement indicia from that designed to deceive the reasonable public into believing such display was official. (Opinion p.14). The court thus concluded the statute must be narrowly tailored with an intent requirement so as not to run afoul of the rights guaranteed by the First Amendment, and held Defendant's conviction and sentence for violation of section 843.085(1) must be vacated. (Opinion p.15). The court affirmed Defendant's convictions and sentences on all remaining counts. (Opinion p.19).

Defendant and the State both moved for rehearing. The State argued section 843.085(1) was not content-based nor overbroad. The State distinguished Virginia v. Black, supra, and pointed out the inclusion of an intent provision in the Virginia statute rendered that statute invalid because it treated any cross burning as prima facie evidence of intent to intimidate, whereas here, the district court found the absence of an intent requirement rendered section 843.085(1) constitutionally infirm. (State's Motion for Rehearing p.12). The State argued when

Defendant was pointing to his shirt and mouthing the words "police" to the police officers who were in pursuit of him, it was clear his intent was to convey he was "one of them" and he should not be stopped. Hence, the intent here was evidenced by Defendant's conduct, not by a provision in the statute. (State's Motion for Rehearing p.14).

On January 21, 2004, the Third District granted rehearing and clarification, withdrew their previous opinion, and issued a substitute opinion. The court again agreed Defendant's conviction and sentence for unlawful display of authorized indicia of law enforcement authority pursuant to section 843.085(1) should be vacated. (2d Opinion p.12). The court again found section 843.085(1) was content-based and overbroad. (2d Opinion pp.12-15). Again, citing to Virginia v. Black, supra, the court concluded the absence of an intent or scienter requirement rendered section 843.085(1) constitutionally infirm because it made no distinction between the innocent wearing or display of law enforcement indicia from that designed to deceive the reasonable public into believing such display was official. (2d Opinion p.16). The convictions and sentences on the other counts were affirmed. (2d Opinion p.22). The court certified conflict with Sult v. State, 839 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), rev. granted, 852 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 2003). (2d Opinion p.14,

n.2; p.22).

This appeal follows.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER SECTION 843.085(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (2001) IS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY CONTENT-BASED OR OVERBROAD AND IS THEREFORE CONSTITUTIONAL.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Preliminarily, statutes must be presumed constitutional, even where a lower court has found otherwise. Content-based regulations are presumptively invalid; however, restrictions have been permitted upon the content of speech in a few limited areas categorized as "not within the area of constitutionally protected speech". One exception which permits content-discrimination is when the content discrimination "does not threaten censorship of ideas". Section 843.085(1), Florida Statutes (2001) does not threaten the censorship of ideas as it does not prohibit the wearing of a shirt bearing the word "POLICE" because the shirt neither expresses support nor disdain for the police. As such, section 843.085(1) does not violate any First Amendment principles.

As section 843.085(1) does not violate the First Amendment, the overbreadth argument is an irrelevancy. Moreover, in order for a defendant to maintain a challenge to a statute on the ground of overbreadth as applied to his or her own case, the defendant is required to establish his or her conduct was wholly

innocent and its proscription is not supported by any rational relationship to a proper governmental objective. The protection of the public from persons impersonating a law enforcement officer, as well as persons openly committing crimes and intending to deceive law enforcement into believing they should not be stopped or apprehended because they are "one of them," is a substantial or compelling governmental interest that would justify any incidental limitation that Appellee could craft with respect to free speech limitations. This being the case, the statute here is not overbroad.

In addition, where there is no violation of the First Amendment, as here, there is no requirement of intent. Finally, a violation of section 843.085 is a misdemeanor offense. Seeing someone in what looks like an authorized or colorable imitation of official indicia of authority does not automatically give an officer probable cause to arrest. Rather, it gives the police officer the authority to investigate the situation.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 843.085(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (2001) IS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY CONTENT-BASED OR OVERBROAD AND IS THEREFORE CONSTITUTIONAL.

This case is before the Court on appeal of the Third District Court of Appeal's decision finding section 843.085(1), Florida Statutes (2001) is content-based and overbroad. The Third District also found because section 843.085(1) lacks an intent or scienter requirement, it is unconstitutional because it makes no distinction between the innocent wearing or display of law enforcement indicia from that designed to deceive the reasonable public into believing such display is official.

PRESUMPTION OF CONSTITUTIONALITY

Statutes must be presumed constitutional, even where a lower court has found otherwise. See, e.g., In re Estate of Caldwell, 247 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1971). Moreover, where such a choice exists, statutes must be given the interpretation that will permit them to be upheld rather than one which would render them unconstitutional. Russo v. Akers, 724 So. 2d 1151, 1153 (Fla. 1998); In re Estate of Caldwell, supra. When the constitutionality of a statute is questioned and it is reasonably susceptible of two interpretations, one which would be unconstitutional and the other which would be valid, a court must adopt the interpretation that will render the statute

valid. <u>Florida State Board of Architecture v. Wasserman</u>, 377 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 1979).

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