IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-390

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 3D01-2332

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

ALBERTO RODRIGUEZ,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1958

ROBERT GODFREY
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0162795

Counsel for Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 843.085(1) is unconstitutional as it is content-based and overbroad.

1. The statute is clearly content-based. On its face, it prohibits the display of certain words or combination of words on clothing when those words could deceive an onlooker into thinking the clothing was authorized by a law enforcement agency. Other words such as “public service aide” or “corporal” are not prohibited.

The statute is not content-neutral. A statute is content neutral if it is “justified

without reference to the content of the regulated speech.” Here, though, the justification for the statute is based upon the content of the regulated speech and the message the legislature believes may be communicated by that speech to a reasonable onlooker.

The statute most assuredly impacts upon speech protected by the First Amendment. The State, in its brief, and the Second District, in its decision in *Sult v. State*, 839 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 2d DCA), *review granted*, 852 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 2003) (Case No. SC03-542), make the mistake of equating viewpoint-discrimination with content-discrimination to argue that protected speech is not involved. The two are not the same, and the United States Supreme Court has specifically held that a statute may be found to be content-based even with “no evidence of an improper censorial motive.”

2. The statute is overbroad as the majority of conduct it reaches is protected by the First Amendment. The statute does not except a person who wears clothing containing the enumerated words or combination of words with an innocent intent, but reaches **all** clothing containing those words that a reasonable person could believe is authorized by **any** law enforcement agency, in-state or out-of-state. Especially since the September 11 tragedy, though, the vast majority of people wearing “police” shirts or caps have done so as a sign of respect for law

enforcement officers. Such clothing is readily available to the public. Other persons may wear, for example, a “public defender” shirt (available for purchase in my office) as a sign of support for the Public Defender who is up for re-election this fall, or may wear law enforcement apparel while on the way to a Halloween party. This innocent conduct is criminalized by Section 843.085(1).

When a content-based statute reaches **any** speech protected by the First Amendment, it is overbroad and thus unconstitutional. That is clearly the case here.

Even if the statute were considered content-neutral, it would still be unconstitutional as the incidental restrictions on First Amendment freedoms are far greater than necessary to further the asserted governmental interest.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the Government restricts speech, the Government bears the burden of proving the constitutionality of its actions. When the Government seeks to restrict speech based on its content, the usual presumption of constitutionality afforded legislative enactments is reversed. Content-based regulations are presumptively invalid, and the Government bears the burden of rebutting that presumption.

United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 816-17 (2000).

Under “strict scrutiny,” which applies to content-based regulations, the legislation is

presumptively unconstitutional and the State must prove the legislation furthers a compelling state interest through the least intrusive means. *North Florida Women's Health & Counseling Svcs., Inc. v. State*, 866 So. 2d 612, 625 n.16 (Fla. 2003). Even under “mid-level” or intermediate scrutiny, which applies to content-neutral regulations that impact free speech, the legislation is still presumptively unconstitutional and the State must prove that the legislation is substantially related to an important governmental interest and the incidental restrictions on First Amendment speech are no greater than essential to the furtherance of that interest. *Id.* at 625 n.15; *United States v. O'Brien*, 391 U.S. 367, 377 (1968). “When a plausible, less restrictive alternative is offered to a content-based speech restriction, it is the Government’s obligation to prove that the alternative will be ineffective to achieve its goals.” *Playboy*, 529 U.S. at 816.

The standard of review set out by the State (which is copied almost *verbatim* from the brief submitted by the State in *Sult*, Case No. SC03-542) fails to recognize that this case involves a statute that implicates First Amendment rights as it restricts speech on the basis of its content.

ARGUMENT

**SECTION 843.085(1) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE
BECAUSE IT IS CONTENT-BASED AND SUFFERS FROM
OVERBREADTH AS IT PROSCRIBES SPEECH PROTECTED BY THE**

FIRST AMENDMENT

Before addressing the legal argument, some salient points about the operation and reach of Section 843.085(1) should be recognized:

(1) The statute reaches “authorized indicia of authority” and “any colorable imitation thereof” of all law enforcement agencies in the country. It is not limited either to Florida law enforcement agencies or to actually authorized apparel.

(2) There is no intent requirement on the part of the wearer of clothing bearing one of or a combination of the words listed in the statute. Thus, a person who wears an “NYPD” cap out of respect for those officers who died in the September 11 tragedy can be prosecuted under the statute.¹ A person who wears a

¹ Such caps are regularly seen on the street, as Justice Wells noted during oral argument in *Sult*. News reports confirm Justice Wells’ observation. For example, one article reported “The merchandise for sale near ground zero has to be seen to be believed: . . . seemingly endless piles of New York police and fire department T-shirts, caps, polo shirt, sweat shirts and the like.” *Attack on America*, San Diego Union-Tribune, November 12, 2001, available at 2001 WL 27299991. Another article reported that items carrying the NYPD logo “are being snapped up at street stands and retail locations” and that people such as Mayor Rudolph Giuliani and Bruce Willis had popularized wearing FDNY and NYPD caps or jackets “in solidarity with the fallen police officers. Now the trend has become a spontaneous outpouring by consumers.” The same article quoted 28-year-old Louis Marrero of the Bronx as saying “By this NYPD cap I am representing America. I don’t call this a fashion statement. All I am doing is showing the world that these people gave their lives for us and this is a token of support.” *Cop, Firefighter Fashions a Craze in New York*, The Toronto Star, October 18, 2001, available at 2001 WL 29256818.

“public defender” t-shirt to show support for the incumbent Public Defender in the upcoming election can likewise be prosecuted under the statute.² A person wearing a “Wildlife Officer” jacket while driving to a Halloween party with another person dressed as a tiger could be prosecuted so long as a “reasonable person” could think the jacket was authorized by a law enforcement agency. The statute is triggered by the effect on the viewer of the words displayed on the wearer’s apparel.

(3) The statute only criminalizes select words. A shirt or jacket with the words “public service aide” or “corporal” or “brigade leader” would not violate the statute no matter how official-looking they appeared to be.

(4) The “reasonable person” viewing the shirt or jacket or cap being worn does not have to believe either that the person wearing the item of clothing is actually a law enforcement officer or that the apparel is actually authorized by a law enforcement agency for there to be a crime. The person viewing the shirt or jacket

Official NYPD shirts and caps are sold to the public by the New York Police Department via the internet at <http://www.shop4nypd.com/>, while LAPD hats can be purchased online at <http://www.incrediblegifts.com/lapdhat.html>. (both sites last visited on July 18, 2004).

² “Public defender” t-shirts with the official emblem of the Public Defender are available for purchase at the Miami-Dade County Office of the Public Defender. If undersigned counsel purchased such a t-shirt and gave it to his wife, she could be prosecuted under the statute if she then wore the shirt in public.

or cap need only potentially believe that “such item” of clothing is authorized by a law enforcement agency. An 87-year-old great grandmother wearing a colorable imitation of an official “police” jacket could thus be charged under this statute.

Understanding how the statute may be applied, it is clearly unconstitutional.

I. SECTION 843.085(1) IS CONTENT-BASED

“Content-based restrictions are presumptively invalid.” *State v. T.B.D.*, 656 So. 2d 479, 480 (Fla. 1995); *R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul*, 505 U.S. 377, 382 (1992).

“The First Amendment affords protection to symbolic or expressive conduct as well as to actual speech.” *Virginia v. Black*, 538 U.S. 343, 358, 360 n.2 (2003).³

“Regulation of the subject matter of messages, though not as obnoxious as viewpoint-based regulation, is also an objectionable form of content-based regulation.” *Hill v. Colorado*, 530 U.S. 703, 723 (2000).

Thus, the First Amendment guarantee of freedom of speech “forbid[s] the States to punish the use of **words or language** not within ‘narrowly limited classes of speech.’” *Gooding v. Wilson*, 405 U.S. 518, 521-22 (1972) (quoting *Chaplinsky v. New Hampshire*, 315 U.S. 568, 571 (1942)) (emphasis added);

³ See Franklyn S. Haiman, *Speech & Law in a Free Society* 6 (1981) (“Symbolic behavior is one of the most fundamental ways in which human beings express and fulfill themselves. Its exercise thus lies at the core of a free society.”).

Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15, 26 (1971) (forbidding “particular words” runs “a substantial risk of suppressing ideas in the process”). Consequently, a statute must be narrowly drawn or authoritatively construed so as “to punish only unprotected speech and not be susceptible of application to protected expression.” *Gooding*, 405 U.S. at 522.

Numerous cases have held that speech on clothing is entitled to First Amendment protection **as speech**, not merely conduct. For example, in *Cohen*, the Court held that a jacket with the words “Fuck the draft” on its back was protected speech. “The only ‘conduct’ which the State sought to punish is the fact of communication. Thus, we deal here with a conviction resting solely upon ‘speech.’” *Id.* at 18. In *Ayres v. City of Chicago*, 125 F. 3d 1010 (7th Cir. 1997), the issue was the sale of t-shirts advocating the legalization of marijuana. The court held that “there is no question . . . the T-shirts are a medium of expression prima facie protected by the free-speech clause of the First Amendment.” *Id.* at 1014. *See also, e.g., Board of Airport Comm’rs of Los Angeles v. Jews for Jesus, Inc.*, 482 U.S. 569, 576 (1987) (recognizing that t-shirt with political message “is still protected speech”); *Commonwealth v. Zullinger*, 676 A. 2d 687, 689 (Pa. Super. 1996) (shirt with “fuck you” written on it was protected speech even though State argued it did not express a social or political belief).

A statute is content-based when “its application depends upon the communicative impact of the speech affected.” Leslie G. Jacobs, *Clarifying the Content-Based/Content Neutral and Content/Viewpoint Determinations*, 34 McGeorge L. Rev. 595, 622 (2003). For example, in *O’Brien*, where the defendant burned his draft card on the courthouse steps, the Court noted that he was punished for the “noncommunicative impact of his conduct, and for nothing else.” 391 U.S. at 382. The case was thus “unlike one where the alleged governmental interest in regulating conduct arises in some measure because the communication allegedly integral to the conduct is itself thought to be harmful.” *Id.* In contrast, the Court in *Stromberg v. California*, 283 U.S. 359 (1931), struck down a statute which prohibited expressing “opposition to organized government” by displaying “any flag, badge, banner, or device.” “Since the statute [in *Stromberg*] was aimed at suppressing communication it could not be sustained as a regulation of noncommunicative conduct.” *O’Brien*, 391 U.S. at 382; *see also Turner Broadcasting Sys., Inc. v. FCC*, 512 U.S. 622, 658 (1994) (explaining that problem with statute at issue in *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1 (1976), which limited amount of political contributions, was “that it was concerned with the communicative impact of the regulated speech.”)

Section 843.085(1) is clearly content-based as it is directly concerned with

the “communicative impact” of the words enumerated in the statute. Indeed, the very purpose of the statute, according to the State, is to prevent the danger of someone “communicating” to another that he or she is a member of law enforcement when, in fact, that is not so. (Brief of Appellant at 14-15, 18, 22-23). The statute does not regulate noncommunicative conduct; it regulates specific words or combinations of those words which, when worn on clothing, could communicate to a reasonable onlooker that the clothing was authorized by a law enforcement agency. The statute is thus content-based, as the Third District properly recognized when holding that “it focuses only on the content of the speech or expression and the direct impact that it has on a viewer.” (App. to Brief of Appellant at 12). *See Playboy*, 529 U.S. at 811-12 (2000) (regulation that “focused **only** on the content of the speech and the direct impact that speech has on its listeners” “is the essence of content-based regulation”).

The availability of other means of communicating support or disdain for law enforcement does not change the content-based nature of Section 843.085(1). In *United States v. Eichman*, 496 U.S. 310 (1990), the Court found a flag desecration statute was unconstitutional as it was content-based. *Id.* at 318-19. It did so over the dissent of Justice Stevens, who argued that the ideas expressed by flag burners are various and often ambiguous, and that a prohibition on flag burning “does not

entail any interference with the speaker's freedom to express his or her ideas by other means." *Id.* at 321-22 (Stevens, J., dissenting).

Section 843.085(1) cannot be considered content neutral. "The principal inquiry in determining content neutrality, in speech cases generally and in time, place, or manner cases in particular, is whether the government has adopted a regulation of speech because of disagreement with the message it conveys." *Hill*, 530 U.S. at 719 (quoting *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989)). "[G]overnment regulation of expressive activity is 'content neutral' if it is justified without reference to the content of regulated speech." *Id.* at 720.

According to the State (Brief of Appellant at 22-23), the legislature adopted Section 843.085(1) because of its concern with the message that the words enumerated in the statute could convey to a reasonable onlooker. By the State's own argument, then, the statute is not content neutral.

The State argues that Section 843.085(1) does not implicate **any** speech protected by the First Amendment, reasoning that a shirt bearing the word "police" "neither expresses support nor disdain for the police" and therefore censorship of such a shirt is permissible. (Brief of Appellant at 14, 31). In support of its claim, the State cites to *Sult* for the proposition that "the instant statute does not involve protected speech since it does not involve the communication of any identifiable

message.” (Brief of Appellant at 23-24). In *Sult*, the court held that shirts depicting the word “sheriff” “neither expressly convey support of nor protest against the sheriff’s office. . . . Thus, we conclude that to wear an official uniform shirt of a law enforcement agency, or a replica of one, implicates only an incidental amount of expressive conduct.” 839 So. 2d at 803.

The State and the Second District have mistakenly equated viewpoint-based censorship with content-based censorship, believing that a statute which does not expressly discriminate against a particular view cannot be content-based. This belief is incorrect as the two types of discrimination are not coextensive. The former is but a subset of the latter: “Viewpoint discrimination is . . . an egregious form of content discrimination.” *Rosenberger v. Rector & Visitors of the Univ. of Virginia*, 515 U.S. 819, 828 (1995).

In fact, the United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected the State’s argument that the First Amendment is implicated only when the government attempts to suppress certain ideas:

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